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I. INTRODUCTION

This lawsuit is only the most recent in a series of duplicative actions that have been filed

against defendant J. Crew Group, Inc. (“J. Crew”) within the last two years involving identical

proposed nationwide classes and identical requests for injunctive relief based on identical

allegations that the point-of-sale (“POS”) devices in J. Crew’s stores are not accessible to

individuals who are blind or who have visual impairments.

Plaintiffs in the instant action (“Plaintiffs”) were aware of these earlier-filed actions when

they filed suit in August 2015, even referencing them in their Complaint. (ECF 1 (“NFB

Compl.”) ¶ 6 (“In October of 2013, J. Crew was sued in federal court in Pennsylvania. Roughly

three months later, Madewell was sued in federal court in Pennsylvania by the same plaintiff as

the 2013 lawsuit. Recently, in a span of three weeks beginning in mid-May 2015, Defendant has

been sued four times in federal court on the same issue.”).) Furthermore, prior to Plaintiffs even

filing suit, J. Crew informed Plaintiffs that the Company had been in the process for some time

now of upgrading all of the POS devices in its stores, including installing a new generation of

devices to ensure that its stores remained fully-compliant with all applicable laws governing

disability access. Indeed, after several months of developing and refining the software for the

new devices, J. Crew is now deploying these devices at all of its stores, a process that is

scheduled to be complete by the end of the year. Despite J. Crew’s efforts to share information

regarding its ongoing compliance efforts, and despite the fact that several functionally identical

cases are already pending in the Central District of California, Plaintiffs have chosen to file this

duplicative and unnecessary action in the Southern District of New York.

For these reasons, J. Crew moves for an order dismissing this later-filed lawsuit pursuant

to the “first-to-file” rule, or, in the alternative, staying the proceedings pursuant to the “first-to-

file” rule and for the further reason that J. Crew has already agreed to upgrade all of the POS
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devices in its stores in connection with a previous settlement, or, in the alternative, transferring

this action to the Central District of California because several substantially similar lawsuits are

already pending in that judicial district.

II. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

A. The Earlier-Filed Jahoda Lawsuits.

On October 2, 2013, plaintiff Robert Jahoda filed a lawsuit in the United States District

Court for the Western District of Pennsylvania entitled Robert Jahoda v. J. Crew Group, Inc.,

Case No. 2:13-cv-01431-LPL. The same plaintiff later filed a second lawsuit entitled Robert

Jahoda v. J. Crew Group, Inc., d/b/a Madewell, Case No. 2:14-cv-00079-LPL. (Request for

Judicial Notice (“RJN”), Exs. 1 (“Jahoda/J. Crew Compl.”) and 2 (“Jahoda/Madewell

Compl.”).)

The Jahoda plaintiff alleged that he was a blind individual who was denied the full use

and enjoyment of the facilities, goods, and services at J. Crew and Madewell1 stores because the

POS devices at those stores allegedly lacked tactile keypads and, as a result, were not accessible

to blind persons. (Jahoda/J. Crew Compl. ¶ 3; Jahoda/Madewell Compl. ¶ 3.) He also alleged

that customers at J. Crew and Madewell stores were threatened with the loss of their private

banking information because they could only use debit cards if they disclosed their personal

identification number. (Jahoda/J. Crew Compl. ¶ 4; Jahoda/Madewell Compl. ¶ 4.)

Based upon these allegations, the Jahoda plaintiff contended that J. Crew violated the

Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”), 42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq. (Jahoda/J. Crew Compl.

¶ 5; Jahoda/Madewell Compl. ¶ 5.) He sought to bring a class claim under the ADA on behalf of

all blind or visually impaired individuals who attempted to make a debit purchase at J. Crew and

1 J. Crew operates retail stores under both the J. Crew and Madewell brands. (Declaration of
Peter Dooher ¶ 1.)
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Madewell stores throughout the United States. (Jahoda/J. Crew Compl. ¶ 8; Jahoda/Madewell

Compl. ¶ 8.) Among other forms of relief, the Jahoda plaintiff sought injunctive relief. (Id.)

In early 2014, the Jahoda plaintiff and J. Crew agreed to resolve the two lawsuits. A

redacted version of the parties’ settlement agreement is attached as Exhibit A to the Declaration

of David Raizman (“Raizman Decl.”). As shown by the settlement agreement, J. Crew agreed to

install a new generation of POS devices that included tactile keypads in all of its J. Crew and

Madewell stores, with the parties agreeing that the Western District of Pennsylvania would retain

jurisdiction over any action to enforce the terms of the agreement. (Raizman Decl. ¶ 3, Ex. A.)

Although J. Crew was given until 2017 to finish installing the new generation of POS devices,

J. Crew is ahead of schedule and will have completed that process by the end of the year.

(Declaration of Peter Dooher (“Dooher Decl.”) ¶ 4.)

B. The Earlier-Filed Smith and Thurston Consolidated Lawsuits.

On May 18, 2015, plaintiff Kenneth Smith filed a lawsuit in the United States District

Court for the Central District of California entitled Kenneth Smith v. J. Crew Group, Inc., Case

No. 2:15-cv-03754-JAK (MRWx). (RJN, Ex. 3.)

On May 27, 2015, plaintiff Cheryl Thurston filed a lawsuit in the Superior Court of the

State of California for the County of San Bernardino entitled Cheryl Thurston v. J. Crew Group,

Inc., Case No. CIVDS 1507512. (RJN, Ex. 4.) The Thurston lawsuit was subsequently removed

to the Central District of California, where it was given Case No. 5:15-cv-01131-JAK (MRWx).

Like the Jahoda plaintiff, the Smith and Thurston plaintiffs allege that they are blind or

visually impaired individuals who were denied the full use and enjoyment of the facilities, goods,

and services at J. Crew and Madewell stores because the POS devices at those stores allegedly

lacked tactile keypads and, as a result, were not accessible to blind persons. (Smith Compl. ¶ 3;

Thurston Compl. ¶ 3.) They also allege that customers at J. Crew and Madewell stores are
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threatened with the loss of their private banking information because they could only use debit

cards if they disclosed their personal identification number. (Smith Compl. ¶ 4; Thurston Compl.

¶ 9.)

The Smith and Thurston plaintiffs allege that J. Crew violated the ADA, and further

allege that J. Crew violated the Unruh Civil Rights Act, California Civil Code § 51 et seq.,

California Disabled Persons Act, California Civil Code § 54 et seq., and California Financial

Code § 13082. (Smith Compl. ¶ 1; Thurston Compl. ¶ 3.) They seek to bring class claims under

the ADA on behalf of all blind or visually impaired individuals who attempted to make a debit

purchase at J. Crew and Madewell stores throughout the United States. (Smith Compl. ¶ 32;

Thurston Compl. ¶ 14.) Among other forms of relief, the Smith and Thurston plaintiffs seek

injunctive relief under the ADA and damages based on their California claims. (Smith Compl.,

Prayer for Relief ¶¶ 2, 4; Thurston Compl., Prayer for Relief ¶¶ 1-2.)

The Smith and Thurston cases are both assigned to the Honorable John A. Kronstadt, who

has consolidated the two cases. (RJN, Ex. 5.) Judge Kronstadt conducted a Scheduling

Conference on October 5, 2015, setting a variety of dates, including November 23, 2015 as the

last day to amend or add parties, January 12, 2016 as the plaintiffs’ deadline to file their motion

for class certification, and August 23, 2016 as the trial date. (Id.)

The parties in the Smith and Thurston actions have already conducted discovery,

including each of the Smith and Thurston plaintiffs responding to J. Crew’s written discovery

requests. (Raizman Decl ¶ 7.) After noticing the plaintiffs’ depositions for earlier dates, J. Crew

has rescheduled and re-noticed those depositions for November 19, 2015 (the Smith plaintiff) and

November 20, 2015 (the Thurston plaintiff) due to the plaintiffs’ unavailability. (Id.) In

addition, the Thurston plaintiff has also served discovery on J. Crew. (Id.)
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C. Pre-Filing Communications Between Counsel for J. Crew and Plaintiffs.

Prior to the filing of the instant lawsuit, counsel for Plaintiffs and J. Crew engaged in

informal discussions related to Plaintiffs’ claims and J. Crew’s defenses to those claims. (See

Raizman Decl. ¶¶ 8-15.)

The earliest communication was sent by Plaintiffs’ counsel on May 4, 2015, on behalf of

the National Federation of the Blind (“NFB”), the Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition

(“CCDC”), Richard King and Dishon Spears. (Raizman Decl. ¶ 9, Ex. B.) The letter, which was

mistakenly sent to satisfy California Civil Code § 55.31, claimed that the POS devices at two of

J. Crew’s stores – one in California and one in Colorado – violated the ADA and several

California statutes. (Id.) The letter did not reference any New York plaintiffs, New York stores

or New York claims. (Id.)

J. Crew subsequently retained the undersigned counsel, who contacted Plaintiffs’ counsel

regarding their May 4, 2015 letter. (Raizman Decl. ¶ 10.) Following an initial discussion on

May 18, 2015, Plaintiffs’ counsel provided two draft versions of a “Structured Negotiations

Agreement” on May 19, 2015. (Id.) Neither of these initial drafts of the Structured Negotiations

Agreement identified any of Plaintiffs’ counsel’s clients. (Id.) Indeed, they discuss having an

arbitration of any fee dispute in Denver, Colorado. (Id. at Ex. C.)

On May 29, 2015, Plaintiffs’ counsel sent J. Crew’s counsel two further-revised versions

of the Structured Negotiations Agreement. (Raizman Decl. ¶ 11.) The first identified no new

clients, despite Plaintiffs’ counsel having previously stated that they might have clients other

than Mr. King, Mr. Spears, the NFB, and the CCDC. (Id. at Ex. D.)

In response, J. Crew’s attorneys asked Plaintiffs’ counsel to identify any such new

clients. (Raizman Decl. ¶ 11, Ex. E.) Plaintiffs’ counsel responded that, “[f]or now the ones

confirmed that we represent are [Mr. King and Mr. Spears] but there likely will be others in
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additional states.” (Id.) Later that same day, Plaintiffs’ counsel “confirmed that we have two

additional individual clients, one from Texas and another from California,” and sent another

version of the Structured Negotiations Agreement (Id. at Ex. F.) Once again, Plaintiffs’ counsel

did not mention any New York plaintiffs among the new clients in either the correspondence or

draft Structured Negotiations Agreement. (Id.)

In an email dated May 31, 2015, Plaintiffs’ counsel acknowledged awareness of similar

California litigation. (Raizman Decl. ¶ 12, Ex. G.)

On June 4, 2015, Plaintiffs’ counsel informed J. Crew’s counsel for the first time that

they also represented Arthur Jacobs, the only New York plaintiff. (Raizman Decl. ¶ 13, Ex. H.)

This is not surprising, since Plaintiffs’ Complaint alleges that Mr. Jacobs did not attempt to

patronize a J. Crew or Madewell store until June 2015, two weeks after the Smith action had

been filed. (NFB Compl. ¶ 49.)

The parties entered into the Structured Negotiations Agreement on June 8, 2015.

(Raizman Decl. ¶ 14.) The parties later engaged in settlement discussions, with counsel

exchanging letters related to the parties’ claims. (Id.) On June 9, 2015, Plaintiffs’ counsel sent a

demand letter, contending for the first time that Plaintiffs would be seeking, inter alia, damages

pursuant to New York statutes. (Id. ¶ 15.) On June 26, 2015, counsel for J. Crew responded to

Plaintiffs’ demand letter. (Id.2)

On July 8, 2015, Plaintiffs’ counsel terminated the Structured Negotiations Agreement.

(Raizman Decl. ¶ 15, Ex. I.)

2 Without conceding the admissibility of these letters for purposes other than those precluded by
Rule 408 of the Federal Rules of Evidence, and expressly reserving all rights in this regard, J.
Crew has exercised extreme caution in refraining from submitting these letters at this time.
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D. The Later-Filed NFB Lawsuit.

This lawsuit was filed in the Southern District of New York on August 11, 2015, more

than two months after Plaintiffs’ counsel acknowledged awareness of the California litigation

and more than one month after Plaintiffs terminated the negotiations. (Raizman Decl. ¶¶ 12, 15.)

It was brought on behalf of individual plaintiffs Richard King (“a resident of the State of

California”), Stacy Cervenka (“a resident of the State of California”), Dishon Spears (“a resident

of the State of Colorado”), Jeanine Lineback (“a resident of the State of Texas”), and Arthur

Jacobs (“a resident of the City and State of New York”), as well as the NFB and CCDC. (NFB

Compl. ¶¶ 14-20.)

Like the plaintiffs in Jahoda, Smith, and Thurston, the individual Plaintiffs allege that

they are blind or visually impaired individuals who were denied the full use and enjoyment of the

facilities, goods, and services at J. Crew and Madewell stores because the POS devices at those

stores allegedly lacked tactile keypads and, as a result, were not accessible to blind persons.

(NFB Compl. ¶¶ 25-26.) Like the plaintiffs in Jahoda, Smith, and Thurston, Plaintiffs allege that

customers at J. Crew and Madewell stores are threatened with the loss of their private banking

information because they could only use debit cards if they disclosed their personal identification

number. (NFB Compl. ¶ 27.)

As a result of this alleged unlawful conduct, Plaintiffs bring a variety of claims for

violations of the: (1) ADA; (2) Unruh Civil Rights Act, California Civil Code § 51 et seq.; (3)

California Disabled Persons Act, California Civil Code § 54 et seq.; (4) California Financial

Code § 13082; (5) California Business & Professions Code § 17200 et seq.; (6) Texas Human

Resources Code § 121.001 et seq.; (7) Colorado Anti-Discrimination Act; (8) New York State

Human Rights Law § 290 et seq.; (9) New York Civil Rights Law § 40 et seq.; and (10) New

York City Human Rights Law, New York City Administrative Code § 8-107. (NFB Compl.
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¶¶ 71-156.) They seek to bring class claims under the ADA on behalf of all blind or visually

impaired individuals who attempted to make a debit purchase at J. Crew and Madewell stores

throughout the United States, as well as sub-classes based on state statutes. (NFB Compl. ¶¶ 59-

63.) Among other forms of relief, Plaintiffs seek injunctive relief under the ADA. (NFB

Compl., Relief Requested ¶ c at 33.)

III. THIS LAWSUIT SHOULD BE DISMISSED, STAYED, OR TRANSFERRED
PURSUANT TO THE FIRST-TO-FILE RULE

A. The Second Circuit Follows the First-to-File Rule.

It is a “well-settled principle in [the Second] Circuit that where there are two competing

lawsuits, the first suit should have priority, absent the showing of balance of convenience or

special circumstances giving priority to the second.” First City Nat'l Bank and Trust Co. v.

Simmons, 878 F.2d 76, 79 (2d Cir. 1989) (internal quotation marks omitted). Indeed, there is a

“strong presumption” in favor of the first-filed suit when multiple similar actions have been

brought in different federal courts. City of New York v. Exxon Corp., 932 F.2d 1020, 1025 (2d

Cir. 1991); see also Colorado River Water Conservation Dist. v. United States, 424 U.S. 800,

817 (1976) (“As between federal district courts . . . the general principle is to avoid duplicative

litigation.”). The rule applies when “substantially similar parties and claims are present in both

courts.” In re Cuyahoga Equip. Corp., 980 F.2d 110, 116-17 (2d Cir. 1992); see also Spotless

Enters. Inc. v. The Accessory Corp., 415 F. Supp. 2d 203, 205 (E.D.N.Y. 2006). Thus, “a court

faced with a duplicative suit will commonly stay the second suit, dismiss it without prejudice,

enjoin the parties from proceeding with it, or consolidate the two actions.” Curtis v. Citibank,

N.A., 226 F.3d 133, 138 (2d Cir. 2000). Under the first-to-file rule, courts require that any party

who objects to the competing cases proceeding in the first-filed court must carry the burden of
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proving “special circumstances” or a balance of convenience to justify an exception to the rule.

Employers Ins. of Wausau v. Fox Entm’t Group, Inc., 522 F.3d 271, 275 (2d Cir. 2008).

B. Plaintiffs’ Lawsuit Is Substantially Similar to Several Earlier-Filed Actions
Pending in the Central District of California.

Plaintiffs’ lawsuit is substantially similar to several earlier-filed lawsuits that are pending

in the Central District of California, which have all been ordered related and assigned to the

Honorable John A. Kronstadt. For example, the plaintiff in Smith alleges that the “POS Devices

in Defendant’s stores throughout California and the United States are not fully accessible to, and

independently usable by, blind people.” (Smith Compl. ¶ 3.) The Smith plaintiff, who alleges

that J. Crew violated the ADA and several California statutes, also seeks to certify a nationwide

class pursuant to Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, as well as a California-only

sub-class, and is seeking injunctive and other forms of relief. Likewise, the plaintiff in Thurston

alleges that “Defendant uses touch-screen POS machines without tactilely discernible keys in its

retail locations across the United States.” (Thurston Compl. ¶ 13.) The Thurston plaintiff, who

also alleges that J. Crew violated the ADA and California statutes, is likewise attempting to

certify both nationwide and California sub-classes and seeking various forms of relief, including

injunctive relief.3

Like the Smith and Thurston plaintiffs, the Plaintiffs here allege that J. Crew violated the

law by “providing point-of-sale devices . . . that use a visual, touchscreen interface that is not

accessible to the blind.” (NFB Compl. ¶ 2.) Like the Smith and Thurston plaintiffs, the Plaintiffs

here (including two plaintiffs who reside in California) allege that J. Crew violated the ADA and

California statutes, seek to certify both nationwide and California sub-classes, and seek

injunctive and other forms of relief. For example, all of the lawsuits seek identical injunctive

3 Two additional lawsuits referenced in Plaintiffs’ Complaint were also ordered related before
Judge Kronstadt, prior to their dismissal. (Raizman Decl. ¶ 6.)

Case 1:15-cv-06337-AT   Document 22   Filed 11/02/15   Page 13 of 23



10

relief requiring the installation of POS devices that comply with both federal law and California

Financial Code § 13082. (Smith Compl. Prayer for Relief ¶ 2; Thurston Compl. Prayer for Relief

¶ 2; NFB Compl. ¶¶ 79, 124.) Indeed, the only discernible difference between this lawsuit and

the earlier-filed lawsuits is that Plaintiffs are also attempting to certify Colorado, New York and

Texas sub-classes, but primarily for the purpose of seeking damages for those claiming

violations of their rights in those states.

The fact that the various cases are not exactly identical, or that Plaintiffs have asserted

additional claims, does not affect the application of the first-to-file rule. “Importantly,

application of the rule does not require identical parties [or claims] in the cases, but merely

requires ‘substantial overlap.’” Wyler-Wittenberg v. MetLife Home Loans, Inc., 899 F. Supp. 2d

235, 243 (E.D.N.Y. 2012) (quoting Spotless Enters. Inc., 415 F. Supp. 2d at 205-06) (emphasis

in original). For example, the district court in Wyler-Wittenberg concluded that claims brought

under New York wage-and-hour laws could be transferred to a California district court, even

though those claims were not already pending in the first-filed California action. Id. at 245

(“[T]he existence or absence of [New York state] claims in [an earlier-filed action] does not

affect the Court’s finding that the claims in the instant action are sufficiently similar . . . for the

Court to apply the ‘first-filed’ rule.”). Here, because there is “substantial overlap” between the

claims asserted here and in the Smith and Thurston lawsuits, the first-to-file rule applies.

C. Dismissing, Staying, or Transferring This Action Will Conserve Resources
and Avoid Inconsistent Rulings.

Because the instant lawsuit is duplicative of the earlier-filed actions, and because the

California actions are much further along (with discovery commenced, a March 2016 hearing

date on class certification and an August 2016 trial date (RJN Ex. 5)), it should be dismissed.

Alternatively, this lawsuit should be stayed pending the resolution of the California lawsuits. To
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the extent this Court does not wish to dismiss or stay this lawsuit, it should be transferred to the

Central District of California, so it can be assigned to Judge Kronstadt, who now presides over

the other consolidated lawsuits in that judicial district.

Dismissing the instant lawsuit will allow the California lawsuits to run their course,

including resolving the issue of whether Plaintiffs have any basis for seeking injunctive relief.

Needless to say, it would be inequitable for different courts to be ordering J. Crew to undertake

differing sets of relief with respect to the very same POS devices. Likewise, “considerations of

judicial administration and conservation of resources” militate in favor of a dismissal, as this

Court will otherwise be forced to devote scarce resources to claims that are already being

litigated in the Central District of California. First City Nat'l Bank, 878 F.2d at 79.

Consequently, “dismissal of the New York action pending a final determination by the

[California] court seems to be the least abrasive method of judicial administration here.” Id. at

80. These same concerns likewise justify staying the instant lawsuit, which would also allow the

California lawsuits to run their course. Alternatively, transferring the instant action to the

Central District of California is proper and would also conserve judicial resources.

D. The Circumstances Here Do Not Warrant an Exceptional Departure from
the First-to-File Rule.

Although there are limited exceptions to the first-to-file rule, neither of the exceptions –

the “balance of convenience” or “special circumstances” – justifies a departure here. First City

Nat’l Bank, 878 F.2d at 79 (quoting Motion Picture Lab. Technicians Loc. 780 v. McGregor &

Werner, Inc., 804 F.2d 16, 19 (2d Cir. 1986) (further citations omitted)).

i. If Anything, the Balance of Conveniences Weighs in Favor of a Dismissal,
Stay, or Transfer.

In analyzing the balance of convenience, courts consider the factors applicable to a

motion for change of venue pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1404(a). J. Lyons & Co. Ltd. v. Republic of
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Tea, Inc., 892 F. Supp. 486, 492 (S.D.N.Y. 1995) (listing factors). These factors do not support a

departure from the first-to-file rule and, in fact, confirm that California is the proper venue for

any lawsuit against J. Crew:

 Convenience of Witnesses – California will be more convenient for the witnesses, with

the majority of the individual Plaintiffs living in or closer to California. Plaintiffs

themselves note that California is the “state where J. Crew has its largest presence,” with

fifty-seven stores in California, as opposed to forty-two in New York (NFB Compl. ¶¶ 5,

22). Consequently, California will be more convenient for a greater number of fact

witnesses.

 Location of Relevant Documents and Sources of Proof – Again, the fact that J. Crew

allegedly has “its largest presence” in California favors California, because there are

more local documents and sources of proof (the POS devices themselves in the California

stores) in California than in New York. Furthermore, J. Crew will already be required to

produce corporate documents in connection with the California lawsuits, and documents

can travel seamlessly and instantly across the continent with a touch of some computer

keys. So, the fact that some business records might be maintained at the Company’s New

York headquarters is immaterial. See New Line Prods., Inc. v. Thoene, No. 06 Civ.

13537(CM), 2007 WL 2213080, at *4 (S.D.N.Y. Aug. 1, 2007) (observing that “this

factor has become much less important in the era of electronic documents” and

transferring case to the Central District of California).

 Convenience of the Parties – The convenience of the parties weighs strongly in favor of

California. Only one of the Plaintiffs resides in New York, whereas two other Plaintiffs

reside in California. The Texas and Colorado plaintiffs are also closer to Los Angeles.
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So, it would be, if anything, more convenient for Plaintiffs as a whole. Furthermore, to

the extent there are organizational plaintiffs like the NFB, they presumably purport to

represent a larger number of individuals with visual impairments in California, given that

there are roughly twice as many residents there as in New York. Finally, California

would be more convenient for J. Crew. Even though J. Crew’s corporate headquarters is

in New York, it would greatly prefer to litigate these claims a single time in a California

court, rather than litigating duplicative claims in multiple jurisdictions.

 Locus of Operative Facts – For the reasons discussed above, the fact that J. Crew

allegedly has its “largest presence” in California favors California as the locus of

operative facts. In addition, because California Financial Code § 13082 (and its

implementing regulations) is the sole explicit source of a specific design standard for

POS devices in all of the claims asserted by Plaintiffs, it makes sense that the devices

situated in California are evaluated under that California law.

 Availability of Process – This factor favors no venue, because each district will be faced

with this dilemma, and neither New York nor California has a significant advantage over

the other.

 The Forum’s Familiarity with the Governing Law – This factor also favors California

because Plaintiffs ask this Court to interpret and apply California Financial Code

§ 13082. To the extent the Plaintiffs also ask a New York court to resolve Colorado and

Texas claims, either court would be equally qualified to handle such claims.

 Plaintiff’s Choice of Forum – Although Plaintiffs have chosen New York, given

Plaintiffs’ claimed representation of a nationwide class of plaintiffs, this is a “less

significant consideration in a (here, putative) class action than in an individual action.”

Case 1:15-cv-06337-AT   Document 22   Filed 11/02/15   Page 17 of 23



14

Warrick v. Gen. Elec. Co., 70 F.3d 736, 741 n.7 (2d Cir. 1995). In fact, given the prayer

for damages by putative class members in four states, it will be far more convenient for

those individuals in three of the four states to have their claims or objections heard in Los

Angeles than in New York.

 Trial Efficiency and the Interests of Justice – This factor weighs strongly in favor of

California, for the reasons discussed above, including that permitting duplicative lawsuits

to proceed in separate jurisdictions would squander the resources of both the Court and

J. Crew, and also raises the specter of inconsistent rulings. Moreover, the consolidated

California actions have a trial date set in August 2016, class certification hearing dates in

March 2016, and both sides have commenced discovery. (RJN Ex. 5.) For these reasons,

even if the other factors did not favor California (and they either do or are neutral), this

last factor is determinative and confirms that New York is a less favorable venue for this

duplicative action. See, e.g., Tate-Small v. Saks Inc., No. 12 CV 1008(HB), 2012 WL

1957709, at *5 (S.D.N.Y. May 31, 2012) (observing that even though the factors weighed

against transfer, “the more efficient outcome [is] to transfer this case to California”).

Consequently, the balance of conveniences does not support an exceptional departure from the

first-to-file rule.

ii. Special Circumstances Also Do Not Support an Exceptional Departure
from the First-to-File Rule.

Likewise, there are no special circumstances that justify departure from the first-to-file

rule, such as forum shopping. Nevertheless, J. Crew anticipates Plaintiffs will argue, as they did

in pre-filing papers, that they could have filed their lawsuit first but “delayed only because

Plaintiffs were attempting to resolve the issues in their lawsuit informally,” and that J. Crew
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should not obtain any “advantage” based on this delay. (ECF 18, p. 2.) Plaintiffs’ argument fails

for two reasons.

First, there is no evidence that J. Crew was forum-shopping, engaging in gamesmanship,

or otherwise taking advantage of the parties’ settlement discussions. Indeed, the delays were of

Plaintiffs’ own making. (Raizman Decl., ¶¶ 10-15.) Although courts have sometimes found that

“special circumstances” exist when a party uses settlement discussions to file a lawsuit in the

forum of their choice, J. Crew did not file any of these lawsuits and thus did none of its own

forum-shopping in locating these claims. See generally, Elbex Video, Ltd. v. Tecton, Ltd., No.

00CIV.0673(LMM), 2000 WL 1708189, at *3 (S.D.N.Y. Nov. 15, 2000) (“The facts indicate

that Elbex is the true plaintiff in this dispute, and that Tecton filed the declaratory judgment

action in California in order to deprive plaintiff of its choice of forum.”). To the extent there is

any unfairness to Plaintiffs (which J. Crew denies), it has been caused by the independent actions

of the Smith and Thurston plaintiffs in choosing to file their lawsuits first and in California or by

Plaintiffs’ own delay. Furthermore, any minimal unfairness to Plaintiffs is far outweighed by the

harm to J. Crew if the Court does not apply the first-to-file rule, since J. Crew will be forced to

defend itself against duplicative lawsuits in two judicial districts through no fault of its own.

Second, there is no evidence that Plaintiffs were prepared to file their lawsuit in the

Southern District of New York on or before May 18, 2015, the date that the Smith lawsuit was

filed in California. Although Plaintiffs’ counsel sent a letter on May 4, 2015, that

correspondence primarily referenced California statutes and did not identify any New York

claims, stores or claimants. (Raizman Decl. ¶ 9, Ex. B.) Indeed, Plaintiffs’ counsel did not even

have a New York client until after May 29, 2015, and did not identify any New York plaintiffs or

New York claims until June 2015. (Raizman Decl. ¶¶ 10-11, 13, Exs. C-G.) Moreover, the only
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New York Plaintiff (Arthur Jacobs) alleges that he did not even visit a J. Crew or Madewell store

until “June of 2015,” after the Smith and Thurston lawsuits had been filed and well after

Plaintiffs’ first claims against J. Crew were conceived. (NFB Compl. ¶ 49.) Likewise, Plaintiffs’

counsel did not propose a Structured Negotiations Agreement until after the Smith lawsuit was

filed, and the parties did not enter into that agreement until after both California lawsuits were

filed. (Raizman Decl. ¶¶ 10-14.) Thus, it is far from clear that Plaintiffs would have filed their

lawsuit first and, if anything, the record suggests that Plaintiffs took advantage of this delay to

identify a New York plaintiff and to add New York claims after they were already aware of the

California actions. (Id. ¶ 12.) Accordingly, the parties’ settlement discussions do not constitute

“special circumstances” that justify an exceptional departure from the first-to-file rule, and the

Court should dismiss, stay, or transfer this action.

E. Severing Certain Claims Would Defeat the Purpose of the First-to-File Rule
and Waste the Resources of the Court and the Parties.

Plaintiffs have previously suggested that, if the Court finds that the first-to-file rule

applies, it should sever and transfer their ADA and California claims only, and retain jurisdiction

over their damages claims under New York, Colorado and Texas law. (ECF 18, p. 6.)

As an initial matter, it is not clear whether Plaintiffs would continue to pursue their ADA

and California claims, after they were severed and transferred. However, given Plaintiffs’

representation that they “seek to bring an end to discriminatory actions committed by J. Crew in

New York and throughout the United States” (NFB Compl. ¶ 1), J. Crew can only assume that

they would continue to pursue claims in both fora. Thus, Plaintiffs and their attorneys would be

litigating their ADA and California claims in a California court, including serving written

discovery, deposing witnesses and engaging in motion practice. At the same time, Plaintiffs and

their attorneys would be litigating other, closely-related claims in this Court and engaging in the
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same types of activities, including written discovery, depositions and motion practice. Thus,

severing and transferring certain claims would not eliminate the risk of inconsistent rulings and

would actually increase the burdens on the parties and the courts. Not only does severing and

transferring certain claims not make sense, it demonstrates, yet again, why this later-filed action

should be dismissed, stayed or transferred.

IV. PLAINTIFFS’ LAWSUIT SHOULD BE STAYED BECAUSE J. CREW IS
ALREADY INSTALLING NEW POS DEVICES

In the alternative, J. Crew asks the Court for an order staying the action because it has

already agreed to install new POS devices in connection with the resolution of the Jahoda

lawsuits.

In their Complaint, Plaintiffs seek a “permanent injunction which directs Defendant to

take all steps necessary to brings its POS Devices into full compliance with the requirements set

forth in the ADA, and its implementing regulations[.]” (NFB Compl., Relief Requested, ¶ c at

33.) However, in connection with the resolution of the Jahoda lawsuits, J. Crew has already

agreed to take necessary steps to ensure that its POS devices are fully compliant. (Raizman

Decl., ¶ 3, Ex. A.) In particular, in February 2014, more than eighteen months ago, J. Crew

entered into an agreement whereby it agreed to identify the manufacturer and model number of

the POS devices that it planned to install in its stores by December 31, 2014, and that it would

ensure that the POS devices in all of its stores had fully-compliant touch pads by December 31,

2017. (Id.) Despite the fact that that agreement provided J. Crew with more than two years

from now to complete this process, J. Crew is well ahead of schedule and slated to complete

deployment of the new POS devices in all stores within the next several weeks. (Dooher Decl.

¶ 4.)
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“The power to stay proceedings is incidental to the power inherent in every court to

control the disposition of the cases on its docket with economy of time and effort for itself, for

counsel, and for litigants.” Louis Vuitton Malletier S.A. v. LY USA, Inc., 676 F.3d 83, 96 (2d Cir.

2012) (quotation omitted). As this Court noted in Gropper v. Fine Art Housing, Inc., 12 F. Supp.

3d 664 (S.D.N.Y. 2014), where the defendant had entered into an agreement to achieve ADA

compliance and was working toward that goal:

Continuing the litigation in these circumstances would require the
parties to expend substantial resources at a time when they have
every reason to expect that the premises will be undergoing
changes that are material to the issues raised in this litigation.
Moreover, it may lead to inefficiencies in litigation that would
cause an unnecessary drain on this Court’s resources. . . . There is
also a public interest in the issuance of a stay. Private parties
should be encouraged to comply voluntarily with the ADA, and to
cooperate with . . . efforts to enforce the statute. Subjecting private
parties to largely duplicative litigation while they are engaged in an
ongoing effort to comply with the law discourages voluntary
compliance.

Id. at 673. Here, as in Gropper, J. Crew is already engaged in ongoing efforts to comply with all

applicable laws, including the ADA, and is scheduled to be done within the next several weeks.

(Dooher Decl. ¶ 4.) Consequently, a stay of this duplicative and unnecessary lawsuit is

warranted.

/ / / /

/ / / /

/ / / /

/ / / /

/ / / /

/ / / /

/ / / /
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V. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, J. Crew respectfully requests that the Court grant this

Motion and enter an Order: (1) dismissing Plaintiffs’ lawsuit pursuant to the first-to-file rule; (2)

staying proceedings in this action pursuant to the first-to-file rule and pending J. Crew

completing the installation of new POS devices; or (3) transferring this lawsuit to the Central

District of California.
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